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          UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

TAMPA DIVISION 

 

 

SUNCOAST WATERKEEPER, 

OUR CHILDREN’S EARTH 

FOUNDATION, TAMPA BAY 

WATERKEEPER, and 

MANASOTA-88, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 

CITY OF BRADENTON, FLORIDA, 

 

Defendant. 

 

 

 

 

 

Civil Case No. 8:22-cv-00037 

 

 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND 

CIVIL PENALTIES 

 

Suncoast Waterkeeper (“SCWK”), Our Children’s Earth Foundation 

(“OCE”), Tampa Bay Waterkeeper (“TBWK”), and ManaSota-88, (collectively, 

“Plaintiffs”), by and through their counsel, hereby allege as follows: 

I. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 

1. This is a civil suit brought under the citizen suit enforcement 

provision of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1251, et seq. 

(“Clean Water Act” or “CWA”) (see 33 U.S.C. § 1365). This Court has subject 

matter jurisdiction over the parties and this action pursuant to Section 505(a)(1) of 

the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a)(1), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 2201 (an 
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action for declaratory and injunctive relief arising under the Constitution and 

laws of the United States). 

2. On November 4, 2021, Plaintiffs issued a sixty (60) day notice letter 

(“Notice Letter”) to the City of Bradenton (“Defendant” or the “City”). The 

Notice Letter informed the City of its violations of the Clean Water Act and of 

Plaintiffs’ intention to file suit against the City. The Notice Letter was sent to the 

Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), 

the Acting Administrator of EPA Region IV, and the Secretary of the Florida 

Department of Environmental Protection (“FDEP”) as required by Section 

505(b)(1)(A) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(A).  

3. More than sixty (60) days have passed since the Notice Letter was 

issued to the City and the state and federal agencies. 

4. Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereon allege, that neither 

EPA nor the state of Florida has commenced or is diligently prosecuting an action 

to redress the violations alleged in the Notice Letter and in this Complaint under 

Section 505(b)(1)(B) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B). This 

action is not barred by any prior administrative penalty matter issued under 

Section 309(g) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g). Accordingly, because 

the requirements of 33 U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B) have been met, this matter may be 

commenced. 
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5. The venue is proper in the Middle District of Florida, Tampa 

Division, pursuant to Section 505(c)(1) of the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. § 

1365(c)(1), because the source of the violations is located within this judicial 

district, specifically within Manatee County. 

II. INTRODUCTION 

 

6. Plaintiffs allege the following violations of the Clean Water Act: (1) 

violations of the State of Florida Domestic Wastewater Facility Permit National 

Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (“NPDES”) Permit No. FL0021369 

(“NPDES Permit”) (Causes of Action One, Two, and Eight); (2) discharges of 

pollutants to waters of the United States without an NPDES Permit authorization 

in violation of Section 301(a) of the Clean Water Act 33 U.S.C. §1311(a) (Cause 

of Action Three); (3) violations of the State of Florida Municipal Separate Storm 

Sewer System (“MS4”) Permit, NPDES Permit No. FLS000037 (“MS4 Permit”) 

(Cause of Action Four); and (4) violations of the NPDES and MS4 Permits’ 

reporting requirements (Causes of Action Five, Six, and Seven). The City’s 

violations of the Clean Water Act, its NPDES Permit and its MS4 Permits are 

ongoing and continuing. 
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III. PARTIES AND BACKGROUND 

 

A. Plaintiffs 

 

i. Suncoast Waterkeeper 

 

7. SCWK is a Florida non-profit public benefit corporation with 

members throughout Southwest Florida, including Manatee and Sarasota 

Counties and the broader Tampa Bay region.  SCWK is dedicated to protecting 

and restoring the Florida Suncoast's waterways through fieldwork, advocacy, 

environmental education, and enforcement, for the benefit of the communities 

and SCWK’s members who rely upon these precious coastal resources. SCWK 

aims to protect local waterways for use for water contact recreation, aesthetic 

enjoyment, fishing, wildlife observation, educational study, and spiritual 

contemplation. To further its mission, SCWK actively seeks federal and state 

implementation of the Clean Water Act, and, where necessary, directly initiates 

enforcement actions on behalf of itself and its members. SCWK has been 

registered as a non-profit corporation in Florida since 2012 and has maintained its 

good and current standing in Florida since that time. SCWK is a licensed member 

of Waterkeeper Alliance, Inc., an international non-profit environmental 

organization, made up of over 300 separate Waterkeeper programs, such as 

SCWK. 

8. SCWK represents its members in and around the City of Bradenton, 

the Manatee River, Tampa Bay and Sarasota Bay who have personally suffered 
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harm to their aesthetic, recreational, and employment-related interests due to the 

City’s illegal discharges of wastewater effluent into the Manatee River, Wares 

Creek, Palma Sola Creek, and Palma Sola Bay which flow into Lower Tampa 

Bay, Sarasota Bay and the Gulf of Mexico (collectively, “Receiving Waters”), 

which are all Waters of the United States, in violation of the City’s NPDES 

Permit limits and the City’s sanitary sewer overflows  (“SSOs”) (i.e., the 

unauthorized discharge of raw sewage, partially treated sewage, or treated 

reclaimed water) into the Receiving Waters. SCWK members enjoy some or all of 

these waters for boating, fishing, wading, body-contact water sports and other 

forms of recreation, wildlife observation, aesthetic enjoyment, educational study, 

and spiritual contemplation. 

9. SCWK members include residents in the vicinity of the Receiving 

Waters affected by the City’s violations and who have reasonably founded fears 

that the pollutants contained in the City’s SSOs, the excessive nutrient loading to 

the Receiving Waters in violation of the City’s NPDES Permit effluent limits, and 

the City’s exceedances of other NPDES Permit limitations have and will continue 

to contribute to poor water quality in the Receiving Waters that may be 

dangerous to them and human health and the environment. SCWK members also 

include: (1) residents of the communities that border the Manatee River, Tampa 

Bay and Sarasota Bay who have reasonably founded fears that the excessive 

nitrogen contained in the City’s discharges of raw, partially treated and/or treated 

reclaimed water cause or exacerbate harmful algal blooms (“HABs”) and the 

Case 8:22-cv-00037-SDM-SPF   Document 1   Filed 01/04/22   Page 5 of 57 PageID 5

f 

 

Find authenticated court documents without watermarks at docketalarm.com. 

https://www.docketalarm.com/


Real-Time Litigation Alerts
  Keep your litigation team up-to-date with real-time  

alerts and advanced team management tools built for  
the enterprise, all while greatly reducing PACER spend.

  Our comprehensive service means we can handle Federal, 
State, and Administrative courts across the country.

Advanced Docket Research
  With over 230 million records, Docket Alarm’s cloud-native 

docket research platform finds what other services can’t. 
Coverage includes Federal, State, plus PTAB, TTAB, ITC  
and NLRB decisions, all in one place.

  Identify arguments that have been successful in the past 
with full text, pinpoint searching. Link to case law cited  
within any court document via Fastcase.

Analytics At Your Fingertips
  Learn what happened the last time a particular judge,  

opposing counsel or company faced cases similar to yours.

  Advanced out-of-the-box PTAB and TTAB analytics are  
always at your fingertips.

Docket Alarm provides insights to develop a more  

informed litigation strategy and the peace of mind of 

knowing you’re on top of things.

Explore Litigation 
Insights

®

WHAT WILL YOU BUILD?  |  sales@docketalarm.com  |  1-866-77-FASTCASE

API
Docket Alarm offers a powerful API 
(application programming inter-
face) to developers that want to 
integrate case filings into their apps.

LAW FIRMS
Build custom dashboards for your 
attorneys and clients with live data 
direct from the court.

Automate many repetitive legal  
tasks like conflict checks, document 
management, and marketing.

FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS
Litigation and bankruptcy checks 
for companies and debtors.

E-DISCOVERY AND  
LEGAL VENDORS
Sync your system to PACER to  
automate legal marketing.


